
Land, Enterprise and Infrastructure – the 1880s and 1890s
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POPULATING RURAL VICTORIA
As a means of  encouraging the populating of  rural areas and providing
an outlet for the unemployed labour of  Victoria, government initiatives
in the form of  Settlement on Lands Acts were passed in 1893 and 1898.
Further Acts were passed in the early 1900s, but all were found to be
seriously flawed.

Much of  the land was hard and rough, being of  poor quality and
allotments too small. Many settlers were inexperienced and lacking in
cash and equipment. Blocks of  land were often virgin bush and required
clearing before any living could be made. Clearing was done by hand or
with the help of  horses. It was hard to make a living and many people
left. In addition, infrastructure services failed to be developed. Those
who stayed would eventually qualify to hold the title to the land once they
had fulfilled certain conditions, such as fencing or building a dwelling. A
nominal rental would also be paid.

The Mahady family
Christopher Mahady married Mary O’Brian in 1860, probably in
Melbourne. Both were Irish immigrants. Their children, Eliza, James,
Christopher and John, were all born in Upper Plenty between 1861 and
1872. The youngest, John Joseph, married Sara Ann Smith in 1911.

At the time of  Christopher’s arrival in Upper Plenty, Aborigines were
still plentiful in the district. Family members have passed on his stories of
Aborigines being buried standing up (a practice unusual among Victorian
Aboriginals). He grew tobacco on Bruces Creek, obtaining the price of
2 shillings/6 pence (2/6d) per pound, and at one time his wool topped
the Melbourne market at 14d per pound.

The Mahady family acquired, by selection, multiple properties in
the district, most of  which have now passed into other hands. Their
descendant, John Mahady, still lives in the district today.

The Cleve family
Charles Cleve was born in Germany. He married Jane Somerville in 1874
at Port Melbourne. Charles selected farming land at Upper Plenty in 1877
in the area known today as Cleves Road. They had six children.

Fred and Jack Cleve farmed in the district for much of  their lives. Fred
Cleve’s family occupied the Walnarring property for a period of time.
Other family members owned several pieces of  property at different
times. The last piece of  Cleve property to change hands (2005) was
situated on the corner of  Cleves Road South and the Wallan-Whittlesea
Road, its last occupants being Tricia Best (née Cleve) and her family.

LEGISLATION FOR ACQUIRING LAND
Charles Gavin Duffy’s Land Act 1862 was an attempt to broker a
compromise between the conflicting interests of  squatters, gold-seekers
and small-scale farmers over control of  vast areas of  land. More land was
released by the Crown in 1862 for ‘selection’ under what became known
as the ‘Duffy Land Act’. ‘Selection’ allowed a great number of  people who
would not otherwise have been able to afford to buy land the opportunity
to lease and eventually gain title if  they met certain requirements. The
Mahadys, Tom Duckworth, the Cleves and many others took advantage
of  these opportunities as they arose.

Over the next fifty years a number of  Acts were passed to encourage
rural settlement and the development of  towns in rural areas, including
the Settlement on Lands Acts of  1893 and 1898. The incentives provided
by these Acts were also a government response to unemployment result-
ing from periods of  economic downturn.

The Returned Soldiers Settlements Acts post-World War I were another
response to employment pressures. These Acts had many flaws, including
poor quality of  land and inadequate allocation of  acreage sufficient to
make a living.

The Land Act 1898 gave the government power to acquire land from
private persons for the purpose of  closer settlement. Conditional leases
were granted to applicants to lease these lands, and they were required to
make significant improvements, such as erecting a dwelling, clearing forest
for agricultural purposes and setting up fencing for stock. An annual fee
was paid and title would be granted after a designated period, for example,
twenty years. The lease could be transferred to another person after a
number of  years. The Becks, Eastons, O’Briens, Flemings and Dickens
appear to have taken up land during this period of  opportunity.

The subdivision of  the Glenvale estate, much of  which was leased to
others, began to progressively occur after the Duffy Village Settlement Act
was passed in the 1860s. A major auction was held on 4 January 1888 to
dispose of  the various lots comprising the estate. Included were the lots
leased by John Rice, the Clements, Battens, Butchers and also Heffernan’s
Hotel. Some of  the lessees purchased their land while others chose to
vacate. (Source: Kilmore Free Press, 24 December 1887.)

The Andrew family
James Andrew was born in East Palford, Devon, in 1827 and arrived
in Australia in 1850. After arriving in Adelaide he soon after sailed to
Melbourne. After some years he moved to the Glenvale area, taking up
almost 400 acres. ‘Wolserey’ is believed to have been built in 1870 and
is named after a town in his native Devon. Wolserey remained in the
hands of  the Andrew family until 1983, when it was purchased by Dr Ian
Reynolds. The property has subsequently changed hands.

floundered in debt. Immigration came to a standstill as there appeared
to be few prospects for immigrants. As well, restrictions were placed on
some groups: laws restricting Chinese immigration were reintroduced
and by 1888 Chinese immigration was virtually banned.

The phrase ‘White Australia Policy’ appeared for the first time. In
the 1890s the restrictions on the Chinese were extended to all
non-Europeans. Workplaces employing Chinese workers became
subject to inspection, and the Victorian Factories and Shops Act 1896
required that all furniture made by Chinese labour must be stamped to
identify it as such.

BUILDING INFRASTRUCTURE

The railways
In 1870 the rail line from Melbourne to Craigieburn was completed
and by 1872 it extended through Wallan, Kilmore and Broadford as far
as Seymour.

The Melbourne Argus reported, on 12 April 1872, that, “Clause selectors
rushed the place on both sides of  the line as fast as they could once
they knew which direction the railway would take”.

With the coming of  the railway a small township developed at
East Wallan. Housing was required for railway workers, hotels for
recreation and accommodation, blacksmiths to repair or make wheels
for conveyances, railway repairs and so on. A baker was present for
many years. A sawmill was also in operation for many years. Yards
were required to hold sheep, cattle and pigs, which were conveyed to
Melbourne markets on certain days of  the week, as well as a paddock
for holding the horses that pulled jigs, carts and drays and their
passengers to and from the railway station.

Mr Bill McCarthy, who has lived in Wallan East for most of  his life,
described the township in the 1920s as having seven houses, the railway
station, a hotel, a store, a small butcher shop and St Mark’s Church of
England church and vicarage. The church operated from 1882 until it
burned down in 1960, the site now being under the Hume Freeway.

The Whittlesea railway line began operations much later in 1889. Its
passenger service closed in 1959.

‘Going to town’ was an all-day event. Train travellers would need
to travel to the station by horse and jig/dray, place their horses in the
station paddock and, on return, catch their horses, harness them and
then journey to their homes.

ABOVE and BELOW: Wallan East railway station, circa 1930.

Postal services
The first overland mail service between Melbourne and Sydney began
in 1838. Shipping was also a vital part of  communications when
Victoria was in its infancy. For example, there was no overland service
to Portland, a then-thriving regional town, until 1844. Country post
offices made up and dispatched ship mails, as did the Melbourne
Post Office.

In 1851, mail volume measured in the thousands; however, by 1852,
due to the huge influx of  immigrants seeking gold, it was one and
a half  million. Town letters cost one penny per half  ounce; inland
letters 2d; ship letters 3d.

A loose bag mail service to Upper Plenty was established in July
1899. Loose bag meant that the mail would need to be picked up from
the East Wallan railway station and taken back to a central location
in Upper Plenty for collection. While it is not recorded who the
Postmaster was until 1908, it is likely that it was Thomas Duckworth, a
local resident, who held the position until his death in 1944.

In 1907 the Upper Plenty Postmaster was paid a salary of  six
pounds. Some 2,046 letters were mailed from Upper Plenty in that
year. In 1908 the Postmaster was paid three pounds, and 1,168
letters were mailed that year. The Commonwealth Gazette reported
the particulars of  services accepted for ‘conveyance of  mail’ –
‘TJ Duckworth, Upper Plenty, to and from Wallan Wallan railway
station and Upper Plenty, three and a half  miles, three times a week,
horseback, 36 pounds [per annum]’.

Thomas Duckworth
Thomas was the son of  Thomas and
Ellen Duckworth, who died in 1903
and 1904 respectively. It is not known
when they emigrated or where Tom
and his sister, Margaret (Lennon), were
born. Tom Duckworth probably settled
in Upper Plenty in the late-1800s. He is
listed as the Upper Plenty Postmaster
from 1908, but possibly held that
position from 1899, as he was already
resident in the area.

Thomas married Mary Ann Mahady,
a cousin of  the Upper Plenty Mahadys,
in 1912. Mary Ann had emigrated from
Ireland in 1903 at the age of  19. They had
no children. Thomas and Mary Ann had
significant land holdings in Upper Plenty.
Their barn was located opposite the
Upper Plenty hall site and was a popular
place for dances before the hall was built.
Following Thomas’s death, aged 75, in
1944, Mary Ann took over the running
of  the post office until her death in 1946,
aged 62.

Mavis Patton remembers the first home of  Thomas and Mary Ann.
It was one large room made of  timber slabs with a dirt floor. The
kitchen was at one end and a bedroom at the other. The three-metre-
wide open fireplace occupied one wall and held a swinging gantry
on which pots and kettles were hung for cooking. It had a smaller
room attached, possibly where post office business was carried out.
The present-day former post office building was built around 1920
and was always referred to as ‘the new house’. Stephen and Margaret
Patton have owned this building since around 2000.

Felling a large
mountain ash
could take two
men an entire day.

Christopher and Mary Mahady, circa 1870. The marriage of Sara Ann Smith to John
Joseph (Jack) Mahady, St Josephs
Catholic Church, South Morang, 1911.
Photograph courtesy: Owen Laffan.

‘Glenvale, View Near the Plenty Mountains – Children’s Picnic’, 1880.
Photographer: Fred Kruger, 1831–88.

James Andrew had a large family and a number of  his descendants
owned property in the district, although none remain today, possibly
due to the large numbers of  girl children and men who did not marry.

Other early families in the Glenvale area included Rice, Batten, Patton,
Hughes, Gibbs, Heffernan, Sassella, Auty, Blair, Jenkins, Downie, Aurish
and Hillier.

THE 1880s AND 1890s
By 1880, gold, agriculture and manufacturing had made Melbourne
the centre of  the Australian colonies. Property development and
speculation were rife. International exhibitions were held in 1880 and
1888 at the newly constructed Exhibition Building. Meetings between
colonial governments discussed the benefits of  forming a nation of
federated states.

Beginnings of
multiculturalism
The first simultaneous census in
Australia in 1881 showed a
non-Aboriginal population of  2.25
million (by 1901 the population had
increased to 3,773,248). However,
by the 1890s, economic depression
had hit hard and Melbourne

‘Sheep and Cattle Stations’, Merriang, near Woodstock, circa 1880.
Photographer: Fred Kruger, 1831–88.

THE TIMBER INDUSTRY
Melbourne’s explosion in population following the discovery of
gold massively increased the demand for timber for construction,
furniture, shingles for roofs, palings for fences, as well as for
firewood.

The forest provided a living for many from the beginning of
settlement and it was not unknown for land purchasers to clear their
land for timber and then move on. By the 1860s, over 100 timber
splitters were working in the Bruces Creek area alone.

Tracks and tramways were constructed to penetrate further into the
forest and to allow bullock teams and drays to transport timber out.

Timber workers set up many small sawmills from the 1860s in
order to process timber prior to transportation.

In 1873 the small mills on Mt Disappointment were closed by
a proclamation when the catchment of  the Yan Yean Reservoir,
opened in 1857, was extended from two to four miles beyond the
crest of  the Dividing Range. The Argus, 12 October 1869, from the
City Council’s Report, reported on the pollution of the Reservoir,
citing, “defilement of Bruces Creek” was evidenced by, “the gathering
of scum and filth upon its surface”, and that the creek supplied, “a
natural drain for the pastures and homesteads along its course”.

Around 1880, Robert Affleck Robertson arrived in Wandong
with apparently unlimited finance. Over the next few years he built
up a small empire with the hugely successful Australian Seasoned
Timber Company. In order to reach further and further into the
forest, a vast network of  tracks, tramways and bridges was built. The
company operated two mills
– the Comet and Planet. The
Comet was the largest and
by the 1890s was processing
800 mountain ash logs each
month. A small village was
set up to house the 100
workers and their families
and a school was also
established, shown right.

The boom times of  the 1880s were followed by a ‘bust’ in the
1890s, accompanied by decreased demand for timber. The Comet
mill burned down in 1902 and financial difficulty caused the company
to go into voluntary liquidation in 1903.

At its peak the timber industry employed 420 men. Logging
and sawmilling continued at a reduced level until 1939 when
all sawmilling ceased. Timber is still being logged from the
Mt Disappointment area at a more sustainable level.

Mr and Mrs Duckworth Senior,
circa 1882.

Thomas Duckworth, circa
1910.

Viaduct on the Bump haulage incline,
one of the many tram lines built and
used by the Australian Seasoned
Timber Company.

Picnic party on a tram line, circa 1910.

The McArthur–Cleve Wedding, 1907.
From left to right: John M McArthur,
Miss Wilson, Maggie McArthur
(seated), Fred Cleve, Mary Cleve
(née McArthur), George McArthur,
Jack Cleve (seated), Harold Adams,
lady unknown.

Wolserey Homestead, 1985. Built by James Andrew, circa 1870. Photographer:
John Waghorn.

ABOVE: An anti-federation and
migration poster, The Daily

Telegraph.

LEFT: An Australian
anti-Chinese cartoon from
1886.

ABOVE and BELOW: Mail order catalogues were popular in the late-19th century as it
was difficult to source many items locally. Magazines, dress patterns, undergarments
and seeds were popular items and took many months to arrive by sea.

‘Township of Whittlesea and Plenty Mountains’, circa 1880.
Photographer: Fred Kruger, 1831–88.

I remember ...
“...Mr Duckworth’s dog. Mr Duckworth had a squeeze-box that he used to play in the barn.
The dog used to really howl when he played it but Mr Duckworth always said his dog was just
singing. He was a dear old man.”

Nancy Lawrence (née Osmond), 2004

“...Going to the post office to pick up the mail. The kids all used to call Mr Duckworth ‘Mr
Duckcurl’ because he had long curls hanging down from under his hat.”

Minna Kendrick (née Mair), 2004


